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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

HEALTHSTREAM, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (UNAUDITED)

(In thousands)
 

  June 30,   December 31,  
  2019   2018  

ASSETS         
Current assets:         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 120,849  $ 134,321 
Marketable securities   40,737   34,497 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $843 and
   $1,161 at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively   27,800   38,124 
Accounts receivable - unbilled   2,036   2,880 
Prepaid royalties, net of amortization   11,970   13,596 
Other prepaid expenses and other current assets   11,089   18,016 

Total current assets   214,481   241,434 
         

Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $16,754 and
   $20,827 at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively   28,544   15,866 
Capitalized software development, net of accumulated amortization of $52,084 and
   $46,757 at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively   20,764   18,352 
Operating lease right of use assets, net   30,774   — 
Goodwill   97,300   86,144 
Customer-related intangibles, net of accumulated amortization of $26,478 and
   $23,245 at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively   53,437   53,469 
Other intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $11,266 and
   $9,663 at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively   7,356   5,909 
Deferred tax assets   251   145 
Deferred commissions   15,534   16,470 
Non-marketable equity investments   6,786   3,376 
Other assets   1,224   783 

Total assets  $ 476,451  $ 441,948 
         

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY         
Current liabilities:         

Accounts payable and accrued expenses  $ 18,121  $ 25,037 
Accrued royalties   13,462   15,756 
Deferred revenue   66,730   66,061 

Total current liabilities   98,313   106,854 
         

Deferred tax liabilities   13,136   11,068 
Deferred revenue, noncurrent   2,669   2,868 
Operating lease liability, noncurrent   32,046   — 
Other long term liabilities   616   2,211 
Commitments and contingencies         
         
Shareholders’ equity:         

Common stock, no par value, 75,000 shares authorized; 32,374 and 32,325 shares
   issued and outstanding at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively   288,900   286,597 
Retained earnings   40,748   32,373 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)   23   (23)

Total shareholders’ equity   329,671   318,947 
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  $ 476,451  $ 441,948

 

 
See accompanying Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited).
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HEALTHSTREAM, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (UNAUDITED)
(In thousands, except per share data)

 
  Three Months Ended   Six Months Ended  

  
June 30,

2019   
June 30,

2018   
June 30,

2019   
June 30,

2018  
Revenues, net  $ 63,781  $ 57,008  $ 128,967  $ 111,866 
Operating costs and expenses:                 

Cost of revenues (excluding depreciation and amortization)   26,806   23,236   53,667   45,484 
Product development   7,640   6,547   14,567   12,548 
Sales and marketing   9,819   8,913   19,340   17,977 
Other general and administrative expenses   10,306   8,029   20,276   15,772 
Depreciation and amortization   6,942   6,019   13,480   12,091 

Total operating costs and expenses   61,513   52,744   121,330   103,872 
                 

Operating income   2,268   4,264   7,637   7,994 
                 
Other income, net   852   476   1,674   789 
                 
Income from continuing operations before income tax provision   3,120   4,740   9,311   8,783 
Income tax provision   719   1,084   2,130   1,498 

Income from continuing operations   2,401   3,656   7,181   7,285 
Discontinued operations:                 

Loss from discontinued operations before income tax provision   —   —   —   (64)
(Loss) Gain on sale of discontinued operations   —   (1,502)   1,620   29,490 
Income tax (benefit) provision   —   (391)   426   10,319 

(Loss) Income from discontinued operations   —   (1,111)   1,194   19,107 
Net income  $ 2,401  $ 2,545  $ 8,375  $ 26,392 
                 
Net income (loss) per share – basic:                 

Continuing operations  $ 0.07  $ 0.11  $ 0.22  $ 0.23 
Discontinued operations   —   (0.03)   0.04   0.59 

Net income per share - basic  $ 0.07  $ 0.08  $ 0.26  $ 0.82 
                 
Net income (loss) per share - diluted:                 

Continuing operations  $ 0.07  $ 0.11  $ 0.22  $ 0.23 
Discontinued operations   —   (0.03)   0.04   0.59 

Net income per share - diluted  $ 0.07  $ 0.08  $ 0.26  $ 0.82 
                 
Weighted average shares of common stock outstanding:                 

Basic   32,394   32,312   32,366   32,205 
Diluted   32,434   32,378   32,406   32,255 

Dividends declared per share  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 1.00
 

 
See accompanying Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited).
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HEALTHSTREAM, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (UNAUDITED)
(In thousands)

 
  Three Months Ended   Six Months Ended  

  
June 30,

2019   
June 30,

2018   
June 30,

2019   
June 30,

2018  
Net income  $ 2,401  $ 2,545  $ 8,375  $ 26,392 
                 
Other comprehensive income, net of taxes:                 

Unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities   14   (10)   46   5 
Total other comprehensive income (loss)   14   (10)   46   5 
Comprehensive income  $ 2,415  $ 2,535  $ 8,421  $ 26,397

 

 
See accompanying Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited).
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HEALTHSTREAM, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (UNAUDITED)
(In thousands)

  Six Months Ended June 30, 2019  

  Common Stock   Retained   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive   
Total

Shareholders’  
  Shares   Amount   Earnings   (Loss) Income   Equity  

Balance at December 31, 2018   32,325  $ 286,597  $ 32,373  $ (23)  $ 318,947 
Net income   —   —   5,974   —   5,974 
Comprehensive income   —   —   —   32   32 
Stock based compensation   —   516   —   —   516 
Common stock issued under stock plans,
    net of shares withheld for employee taxes   63   (328)   —   —   (328)
Balance at March 31, 2019   32,388  $ 286,785  $ 38,347  $ 9  $ 325,141 
Net income   —   —   2,401   —   2,401 
Comprehensive income   —   —   —   14   14 
Stock donated to Company (held in treasury)   (86)   —   —   —   — 
Stock based compensation   —   2,558   —   —   2,558 
Common stock issued under stock plans,
    net of shares withheld for employee taxes   72   (443)   —   —   (443)
Balance at June 30, 2019   32,374  $ 288,900  $ 40,748  $ 23  $ 329,671

 

 
See accompanying Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited).
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HEALTHSTREAM, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (UNAUDITED)
(In thousands, except per share data)

  Six Months Ended June 30, 2018  

  Common Stock   Retained   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive   
Total

Shareholders’  
  Shares   Amount   Earnings   (Loss) Income   Equity  

Balance at December 31, 2017   31,908  $ 282,666  $ 17,542  $ (38)  $ 300,170 
Cumulative effect of accounting change           15,132       15,132 
Net income   —   —   23,846   —   23,846 
Comprehensive income   —   —   —   15   15 
Dividends declared on common stock ($1.00 per share)           (32,518)       (32,518)
Stock based compensation   —   328       —   328 
Common stock issued under stock plans,
    net of shares withheld for employee taxes   394   2,071   —   —   2,071 
Balance at March 31, 2018   32,302  $ 285,065  $ 24,002  $ (23)  $ 309,044 
Net income   —   —   2,545   —   2,545 
Comprehensive loss   —   —   —   (10)   (10)
Stock based compensation   —   427   —   —   427 
Common stock issued under stock plans,
    net of shares withheld for employee taxes   15   181   —   —   181 
Balance at June 30, 2018   32,317  $ 285,673  $ 26,547  $ (33)  $ 312,187

 

 
See accompanying Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited).
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HEALTHSTREAM, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)
(In thousands)

 
  Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2019   2018  

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:         
Net income  $ 8,375  $ 26,392 
Income from discontinued operations   (1,194)   (19,107)
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:         

Depreciation and amortization   13,480   12,091 
Stock based compensation   3,074   846 
Amortization of deferred commissions   4,201   3,735 
Provision for doubtful accounts   48   390 
Deferred income taxes   2,066   636 
Gain on non-marketable equity investments   (69)   (5)
Other   (84)   — 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:         
Accounts and unbilled receivables   12,019   3,905 
Prepaid royalties   1,626   1,361 
Other prepaid expenses and other current assets   2,746   (6,532)
Deferred commissions   (3,265)   (4,146)
Other assets   (391)   3,747 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses   (4,060)   (8,087)
Accrued royalties   (2,294)   (2,298)
Deferred revenue   329   3,277 

Net cash provided by continuing operating activities   36,607   16,205 
Net cash used in discontinued operating activities   —   (1,003)
Net cash provided by operating activities   36,607   15,202 

         
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:         
Business combinations, net of cash acquired   (18,018)   — 
Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations   6,222   57,828 
Proceeds from maturities of marketable securities   38,037   44,663 
Purchases of marketable securities   (44,158)   (41,266)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment   12   — 
Payments to acquire cost method investments   (3,342)   — 
Payments associated with capitalized software development   (8,374)   (5,094)
Purchases of property and equipment   (19,598)   (3,270)

Net cash (used in) provided by continuing investing activities   (49,219)   52,861 
Net cash used in discontinued investing activities   —   (116)
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities   (49,219)   52,745 

         
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:         
Proceeds from exercise of stock options   214   2,552 
Taxes paid related to net settlement of equity awards   (985)   (300)
Payments of earn-outs related to acquisitions   (37)   (37)
Payment of cash dividends   (52)   (32,353)

Net cash used in continuing financing activities   (860)   (30,138)
Net cash used in discontinued financing activities   —   — 
Net cash used in financing activities   (860)   (30,138)

         
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents   (13,472)   37,809 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   134,321   84,768 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 120,849  $ 122,577

 

See accompanying Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited).
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HEALTHSTREAM, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

 
1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited) have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States (“US GAAP”) for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10‑Q and Article 10 of Regulation S‑X. Accordingly,
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements do not include all of the information and footnotes required by US GAAP for complete financial statements. In the
opinion of management, all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. All
intercompany transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Operating results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 are not necessarily
indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2019.

On February 12, 2018, the Company divested its Patient Experience (“PX”) business to Press Ganey Associates, Inc. (“Press Ganey”). The sale of the PX
business resulted in the Company’s divestiture of the Company’s patient experience solutions business segment. The Company has classified the results of its
previously owned PX segment as discontinued operations in its Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income and Cash Flows for all periods presented. See
Note 8 for additional information.

The Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2018 has been derived from the audited Consolidated Financial Statements at that date and has been
adjusted to reflect the Company’s discontinued operations as noted above but does not include all of the information and footnotes required by US GAAP for
complete financial statements. For further information, refer to the Consolidated Financial Statements and footnotes thereto for the year ended
December 31, 2018 (included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 25, 2019).

2. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Accounting Standards Recently Adopted

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (“ASC 842”), which, among other things, requires an entity to recognize a right-of-use asset and a
lease liability on the balance sheet for substantially all leases, including operating leases. The Company adopted ASC 842 effective January 1, 2019 utilizing
the modified retrospective approach such that prior year Financial Statements were not recast under the new standard. Adoption of this standard resulted in
changes to the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets and accounting policies for leases but did not have an impact on the Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Income or Cash Flows. See Note 12 for additional information regarding the new standard and its impact on the Company’s
Financial Statements.

Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-03, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (“ASC 326”): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments,
which amends guidance on reporting credit losses for assets held at amortized cost basis and available for sale debt securities. For assets held at amortized
cost basis, ASC 326 eliminates the probable initial recognition threshold in current GAAP and, instead, requires an entity to reflect its current estimate of all
expected credit losses. The standard will be effective for the first interim period within annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019. The
Company will adopt this ASU on January 1, 2020 and is currently evaluating the impact that adoption of this ASU will have on the Company’s consolidated
financial position and results of operations.

3. REVENUE RECOGNITION AND SALES COMMISSIONS
 
Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognized when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to the customer in an amount that reflects the consideration the
Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for transferring those goods or services.

Revenue is recognized based on the following five step model:

 • Identification of the contract with a customer

 • Identification of the performance obligations in the contract

 • Determination of the transaction price

 • Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

 • Recognition of revenue when, or as, the Company satisfies a performance obligation

7
 



HEALTHSTREAM, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

 
The following table represents our revenues included in continuing operations from contracts with customers disaggregated by revenue source for the three
and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 (in thousands). Sales taxes are excluded from revenues.
 

  Three Months Ended June 30, 2019   Six Months Ended June 30, 2019  

Business Segments  
Workforce
Solutions   

Provider
Solutions   Consolidated   

Workforce
Solutions   

Provider
Solutions   Consolidated  

Subscription/SaaS services  $ 50,892  $ 9,501  $ 60,393  $ 103,696  $ 18,581  $ 122,277 
Professional services   1,530   1,858   3,388   3,020   3,670   6,690 

Total revenues, net  $ 52,422  $ 11,359  $ 63,781  $ 106,716  $ 22,251  $ 128,967 
                         

  Three Months Ended June 30, 2018   Six Months Ended June 30, 2018  

Business Segments  
Workforce
Solutions   

Provider
Solutions   Consolidated   

Workforce
Solutions   

Provider
Solutions   Consolidated  

Subscription/SaaS services  $ 45,743  $ 8,667  $ 54,410  $ 89,444  $ 17,700  $ 107,144 
Professional services   1,225   1,373   2,598   2,471   2,251   4,722 

Total revenues, net  $ 46,968  $ 10,040  $ 57,008  $ 91,915  $ 19,951  $ 111,866
 

 
Subscription/SaaS services revenues primarily consist of fees in consideration of providing customers access to one or more of our SaaS-based solutions
and/or courseware subscriptions, as well as fees related to licensing agreements, all of which include routine customer support and technology enhancements.
Revenue is generally recognized over time during the contract term beginning when the service is made available to the customer. Subscription/SaaS
contracts are generally non-cancelable, one to five years in length, and billed annually, semi-annually, quarterly, or monthly in advance.

Professional services revenues primarily consist of fees for implementation services, custom courseware development, and training. The majority of our
professional services contracts are billed in advance based on a fixed price basis, and revenue is recognized over time as the services are performed. For both
subscription/SaaS services and professional services, the time between billing the customer and when performance obligations are satisfied is not significant.

Our contracts with customers often contain multiple performance obligations. For these contracts, the Company accounts for individual performance
obligations separately if they are distinct. The contract price, which represents transaction price, is allocated to the separate performance obligations on a
relative standalone selling price basis. We generally determine standalone selling prices based on the standard list price for each product, taking into
consideration certain factors, including contract length and the number of subscriptions within the contract.

We receive payments from customers based on billing schedules established in our contracts. Accounts receivable - unbilled represent contract assets related
to our conditional right to consideration for subscription/SaaS and professional services contracts where performance has occurred under the contract.
Accounts receivable are primarily comprised of trade receivables that are recorded at the invoice amount, net of an allowance for doubtful accounts, when the
right to consideration becomes unconditional.

For the three months ended June 30, 2019, the Company recognized $46,000 in impairment losses on receivables and contract assets arising from the
Company’s contracts with customers. For the three months ended June 30, 2018 the Company did not recognize any impairment losses on receivables and
contract assets arising from the Company’s contracts with customers. For the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company recognized $48,000
and $390,000 in impairment losses on receivables and contract assets arising from the Company’s contracts with customers.

Deferred revenue represents contract liabilities that are recorded when cash payments are received or are due in advance of our satisfaction of performance
obligations. During the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, we recognized $36.3 million and $33.8 million of revenue from amounts included in
deferred revenues at the beginning of the respective period, respectively. During the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, we recognized $51.2 million
and $48.0 million of revenue from amounts included in deferred revenues at the beginning of the respective periods. As of June 30, 2019, $436 million of
revenue is expected to be recognized from remaining performance obligations under contract with customers. We expect to recognize revenue with respect to
47% of these remaining performance obligations over the next 12 months, with the remaining amounts recognized thereafter.
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HEALTHSTREAM, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

 
Sales Commissions

Sales commissions earned by our sales force are considered incremental and recoverable costs of obtaining a contract with a customer. The Company’s sales
commission plans for 2018 and 2019 typically include multiple payments, including initial payments in the period a customer contract is obtained and
subsequent payments either 15 or 27 months after the initial payment. Under ASC 606, costs to acquire contracts with customers, such as the initial sales
commission payment, are capitalized in the period a customer contract is obtained and are amortized consistent with the transfer of the goods or services to
the customer over the expected period of benefit, whereas subsequent sales commission payments which require a substantive performance condition of the
employee are expensed ratably through the payment date. The capitalized contract cost is included in deferred commissions in the accompanying Condensed
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The expected period of benefit is the contract term, except when the capitalized commission is expected to provide economic
benefit to the Company for a period longer than the contract term, such as for new customer or incremental sales where renewals are expected and renewal
commissions are not commensurate with initial commissions. Non-commensurate commissions are amortized over the greater of the expected period of
benefit or technological obsolescence period. The Company recorded amortization of deferred commissions of $2.1 million and $1.9 million for the
three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and $4.2 million and $3.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively,
which is included in Sales and marketing expenses in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income.

4. INCOME TAXES

Income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method, whereby deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the temporary differences
between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities measured at tax rates that will be in effect for the year in which the differences are expected
to affect taxable income.

During the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company recorded a provision for income taxes from continuing operations of $719,000 and $1.1
million, respectively. During the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company recorded a provision for income taxes from continuing operations of
$2.1 million and $1.5 million, respectively. The Company’s effective tax rate for continuing operations for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 was 23%
and 17%, respectively. The Company’s effective tax rate primarily reflects the statutory corporate income tax rate, the net effect of state taxes, and the effect of
various permanent tax differences. Additionally, during the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company recorded excess tax benefits related to stock
based awards of $123,000 and $663,000, respectively, as a component of the provision for income taxes.

5. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Dividends on Common Stock

On February 12, 2018, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a $1.00 per common share special cash dividend, which was paid on April 3, 2018 to
shareholders of record on March 6, 2018.

Stock Based Compensation

The Company has stock awards outstanding under two stock incentive plans: the Company’s 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan and 2010 Stock Incentive Plan. The
Company accounts for its stock based compensation plans using the fair-value based method for costs related to stock based payments, including stock options
and restricted share units (“RSUs”). During the six months ended June 30, 2019, the Company issued 86,220 RSUs, subject to service-based time vesting, with a
weighted average grant date fair value of $27.39 per share, measured based on the closing fair market value of the Company’s stock on the date of grant. During
the six months ended June 30, 2018, the Company issued 83,168 RSUs, subject to service-based time vesting, with a weighted average grant date fair value of
$24.70 per share, measured based on the closing fair market value of the Company’s stock on the date of grant.

Total stock based compensation expense recorded for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, which is recorded within continuing operations in
the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income, is as follows (in thousands):
 

  
Three Months Ended

June 30,   
Six Months Ended

June 30,  
  2019   2018   2019   2018  

Cost of revenues (excluding depreciation and amortization)  $ 670  $ 10  $ 671  $ 18 
Product development   765   72   818   145 
Sales and marketing   462   50   518   82 
Other general and administrative   661   295   1,067   601 

Total stock based compensation expense  $ 2,558  $ 427  $ 3,074  $ 846
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HEALTHSTREAM, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

 

Stock Awards

During June 2019, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Robert A. Frist, Jr., contributed 78,520 of his personally owned shares of HealthStream, Inc.
common stock (valued at $2.0 million) to the Company, without any consideration paid to him, for the benefit of the Company’s employees. In connection
therewith, effective June 26, 2019 the Company approved the award of 78,520 fully vested shares of common stock to approximately 820 employees of the
Company under the HealthStream, Inc. 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan. These shares were issued in July 2019. As required by ASC Topic 718, Compensation
– Stock Compensation, the Company recognized $2.0 million of stock based compensation expense for these stock awards during the three months ended
June 30, 2019 based on the closing fair market value of the Company’s stock on the date of the Company’s approval of these grants. Total payments related to
the employees’ tax obligations to taxing authorities for these stock awards were $627,000 and are reflected as a financing activity within the Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the six months ended June 30, 2019. In addition, the employer taxes and expenses associated with these grants
were $0.2 million and were recorded as an expense during June 2019. Mr. Frist contributed an additional 7,852 of his personally owned shares to cover these
costs. The receipt of shares from Mr. Frist and in connection with the withholding of shares as set forth above are presented on the Company’s Statement of
Shareholders’ Equity in a similar manner as a share repurchase (i.e., reduction of outstanding shares).

6. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing the net income available to common shareholders for the period by the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing the net income available to common shareholders for the period by the
weighted average number of potentially dilutive common and common equivalent shares outstanding during the period. Common equivalent shares are composed
of incremental common shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options and RSUs subject to vesting. The dilutive effect of common equivalent shares is
included in diluted earnings per share by application of the treasury stock method. The total number of common equivalent shares excluded from the calculations
of diluted earnings per share, due to their anti-dilutive effect or contingent performance conditions, was 131,000 and 70,000 for the three months ended June 30,
2019 and 2018, respectively, and 134,000 and 114,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 (in thousands,
except per share data):
 

  
Three Months Ended

June 30,   
Six Months Ended

June 30,  
  2019   2018   2019   2018  

Numerator:                 
Income from continuing operations  $ 2,401  $ 3,656  $ 7,181  $ 7,285 
(Loss) Income from discontinued operations   —   (1,111)   1,194   19,107 

Net income  $ 2,401  $ 2,545  $ 8,375  $ 26,392 
Denominator:                 

Weighted-average shares outstanding   32,394   32,312   32,366   32,205 
Effect of dilutive shares   40   66   40   50 

Weighted-average diluted shares   32,434   32,378   32,406   32,255 
                 

Net income (loss) per share - basic:                 
Continuing operations  $ 0.07  $ 0.11  $ 0.22  $ 0.23 
Discontinued operations   —   (0.03)   0.04   0.59 

Net income per share - basic  $ 0.07  $ 0.08  $ 0.26  $ 0.82 
                 
Net income (loss) per share - diluted:                 

Continuing operations  $ 0.07  $ 0.11  $ 0.22  $ 0.23 
Discontinued operations   —   (0.03)   0.04   0.59 

Net income per share - diluted  $ 0.07  $ 0.08  $ 0.26  $ 0.82
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7. MARKETABLE SECURITIES

At June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the fair value of marketable securities, which were all classified as available for sale, included the following (in
thousands):
 

  June 30, 2019  

  
Adjusted

Cost   
Unrealized

Gains   
Unrealized

Losses   Fair Value  
Level 2:                 

Corporate debt securities  $ 28,141  $ 19  $ (4)  $ 28,156 
Government-sponsored enterprise debt securities   12,577   4   —   12,581 

Total  $ 40,718  $ 23  $ (4)  $ 40,737
 

 
  December 31, 2018  

  
Adjusted

Cost   
Unrealized

Gains   
Unrealized

Losses   Fair Value  
Level 2:                 

Corporate debt securities  $ 31,521  $ —  $ (23)  $ 31,498 
Government-sponsored enterprise debt securities   2,999   —   —   2,999 

Total  $ 34,520  $ —  $ (23)  $ 34,497
 

 
The carrying amounts reported in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets approximate the fair value based on quoted market prices or alternative pricing
sources and models utilizing market observable inputs. As of June 30, 2019, the Company does not consider any of its marketable securities to be other than
temporarily impaired. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company did not reclassify any items out of accumulated other
comprehensive (loss) income to net income. All investments in marketable securities are classified as current assets on the balance sheet because the
underlying securities mature within one year from the balance sheet date.

8. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Patient Experience

On February 12, 2018, the Company divested PX to Press Ganey for $65.2 million in cash (after giving effect to the post-closing working capital adjustment),
resulting in a gain, net of tax, of $20.2 million, of which $19.0 million was recorded during the year ended December 31, 2018 and $1.2 million was recorded
during the three months ended March 31, 2019. Approximately $6.55 million of the proceeds was held in escrow for a period of time following the closing as a
source of recovery for indemnification claims by Press Ganey, of which $6.22 million was released and paid to the Company in April 2019. Approximately
$328,000 remains in escrow through August 12, 2019 as a source of recovery for certain potential indemnification claims.

This sale of the PX business resulted in the Company’s divestiture of the Company’s patient experience solutions business segment. The Company has classified
the results of the patient experience solutions business segment as discontinued operations in its Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income and Cash Flows
for all periods presented.
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The financial results of the PX business for the period prior to divestiture during the six months ended June 30, 2018, are presented in discontinued operations
in the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Statement of Income. The following table presents financial results of the PX business (in thousands):
 

  
Six Months Ended

June 30,  

  2018  
Revenues, net  $ 3,342 
Operating costs and expenses:     

Cost of revenues (excluding depreciation and amortization)   1,982 
Product development   554 
Sales and marketing   460 
Other general and administrative expenses   229 
Depreciation and amortization   181 

Total operating costs and expenses   3,406 
     

Operating loss   (64)
     

Other loss   — 
     

Loss from discontinued operations before income tax provision   (64)
Income tax provision   — 

Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes  $ (64)
 

9. BUSINESS SEGMENTS

The Company provides services to healthcare organizations and other members within the healthcare industry. The Company’s services are focused on the
delivery of workforce development products and services (HealthStream Workforce Solutions) and provider credentialing, privileging, and enrollment products
and services (HealthStream Provider Solutions).

As noted above, the sale of the PX business on February 12, 2018 resulted in the Company’s divestiture of the Company’s Patient Experience Solutions segment.
Beginning with the first quarter of 2018, the Company classified the results of its Patient Experience segment as discontinued operations in its Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Income and Cash Flows for all periods presented. See Note 8 for additional information.

The Company measures segment performance based on operating income before income taxes and prior to the allocation of certain corporate overhead expenses,
interest income, interest expense, and depreciation. The Unallocated component below includes corporate functions, such as accounting, human resources, legal,
investor relations, administrative, and executive personnel, depreciation, a portion of amortization, and certain other expenses, which are not currently allocated in
measuring segment performance. The following is the Company’s business segment information for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 and
as of June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018 (in thousands).
 
 

  
Three Months Ended

June 30,   
Six Months Ended

June 30,  

Revenues, net:  2019   2018   2019   2018  
Workforce Solutions  $ 52,422  $ 46,968  $ 106,716  $ 91,915 
Provider Solutions   11,359   10,040   22,251   19,951 

Total revenues, net  $ 63,781  $ 57,008  $ 128,967  $ 111,866 

Operating income from continuing operations:                 
Workforce Solutions  $ 8,890  $ 9,825  $ 20,419  $ 19,061 
Provider Solutions   1,385   776   2,821   1,289 
Unallocated   (8,007)   (6,337)   (15,603)   (12,356)

Total operating income from continuing operations  $ 2,268  $ 4,264  $ 7,637  $ 7,994
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Segment assets *  June 30, 2019   December 31, 2018  

Workforce Solutions  $ 120,066  $ 104,668 
Provider Solutions   141,550   145,637 
Unallocated   214,835   191,643 

Total assets  $ 476,451  $ 441,948
 

 
* Segment assets include accounts and unbilled receivables, prepaid and other current assets, other assets, capitalized software development, certain property and equipment, goodwill and

intangible assets. Cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities are not allocated to individual segments, and are included within Unallocated. A significant portion of property and
equipment assets are included within Unallocated.

10. BUSINESS COMBINATION

Providigm, LLC

On January 10, 2019, the Company acquired the outstanding equity of Providigm, LLC (“Providigm”), a Denver, Colorado based company focusing on quality
assurance and performance improvement in healthcare, primarily serving skilled nursing facilities. The Company acquired Providigm to add its comprehensive
quality management system, known as “abaqis®,” to its product portfolio and gain customers in the skilled nursing market. The consideration paid for Providigm
consisted of $18.0 million in cash, which the Company funded with cash on hand. In addition, up to an additional $500,000 in cash may be paid by the Company
based on the financial performance of Providigm during an 18-month period following closing. Of the purchase price paid by the Company at closing, $3.65
million is being held in escrow for a period of time following the closing to serve as a source of recovery for certain potential indemnification claims by the
Company. The Company incurred $388,000 in transaction costs, of which $63,000 was incurred during the six months ended June 30, 2019 and $325,000 was
incurred during the year ended 2018. The transaction costs were recorded in other general and administrative in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of
Income for such periods. The results of operations for Providigm have been included in the HealthStream Workforce Solutions segment of the Company’s
Financial Statements from the date of acquisition.

A summary of the purchase price is as follows (in thousands):

Cash paid at closing  $ 14,368 
Cash held in escrow   3,650 

Total consideration paid  $ 18,018
 

The following table summarizes the preliminary fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the date of acquisition (in thousands):

Accounts and unbilled receivable, net  $ 898 
Prepaid assets   847 
Property and equipment   50 
Operating lease right-of-use assets   1,233 
Other assets   49 
Deferred tax assets   104 
Goodwill   11,157 
Intangible assets   6,250 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   (1,196)
Deferred revenue   (141)
Operating lease liabilities   (1,233)

Net assets acquired  $ 18,018
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The excess of preliminary purchase price over the preliminary fair values of net tangible and intangible assets is recorded as goodwill. The preliminary fair
values of tangible and identifiable intangible assets and liabilities are based on management’s estimates and assumptions. During the three months ended June
30, 2019, the Company updated the composition and valuation of intangible assets and recorded a measurement period adjustment increasing goodwill and
decreasing intangible assets by approximately $2.0 million. The measurement period adjustment resulted in a decrease to depreciation and amortization
expense of $113,000 during the three months ended June 30, 2019. The preliminary fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed continue to be
subject to change during the measurement period (up to one year from the acquisition date) as the Company finalizes the valuation of these items. The
primary areas of the preliminary purchase price allocation that are not finalized include the composition and valuation of intangible assets and indemnification
asset and liability. The goodwill balance is primarily attributed to the assembled workforce, additional market opportunities from offering Providigm’s
products, and expected synergies from integrating Providigm with other products or other combined functional areas within the Company. The goodwill
balance is deductible for U.S. income tax purposes. The net tangible assets include deferred revenue, which was adjusted down from a book value at the
acquisition date of $266,000 to an estimated fair value of $141,000. The $125,000 write-down of deferred revenue will result in lower revenues than would
have otherwise been recognized for such services. The acquired assets and liabilities include a $750,000 indemnification asset and liability related to tax
liabilities. The purchase agreement also contains a provision for up to $500,000 of additional consideration based on the achievement of financial performance
targets by Providigm during an 18-month period following the closing date. Management assessed the likelihood of achieving the financial performance targets,
which has been included in the preliminary purchase price allocation.

The following table sets forth the preliminary components of identifiable intangible assets and their estimated useful lives as of the acquisition date (in
thousands):

  Preliminary Fair Value   Useful life
Customer relationships  $ 3,200  12 years
Developed technology   2,800  5 years
Trade Name   250  7 years

Total preliminary intangible assets subject to amortization  $ 6,250   

The amounts of revenue and operating loss of Providigm included in the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income from the date of acquisition
of January 10, 2019 to the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 are as follows (in thousands):

  
Three Months Ended

June 30, 2019  
Six Months Ended

June 30, 2019  
Total revenues  $ 1,844 $ 3,336 
Operating loss  $ (90) $ (488)

The following unaudited pro forma financial information summarizes the combined results of continuing and discontinued operations of the Company, unless
otherwise noted, and Providigm as though the companies were combined as of January 1, 2018 (in thousands, except per share data):

  
Three Months Ended

June 30,   
Six Months Ended

June 30,  
  2019   2018   2019   2018  
Total revenues  $ 63,781  $ 59,412  $ 129,278  $ 119,600 
Income from continuing operations  $ 2,401  $ 3,580  $ 7,235  $ 7,098 
Net income  $ 2,401  $ 2,469  $ 8,429  $ 26,204 
Net income per share - basic  $ 0.07  $ 0.08  $ 0.26  $ 0.81 
Net income per share - diluted  $ 0.07  $ 0.08  $ 0.26  $ 0.81

 

 
These unaudited pro forma combined results of operations include certain adjustments arising from the acquisition, such as amortization of intangible assets,
depreciation of property and equipment, interest expense related to Providigm’s previously outstanding debt, and fair value adjustments of acquired deferred
revenue balances. The unaudited pro forma combined results of operations is for informational purposes only and is not indicative of what the Company’s results
of operations would have been had the transaction occurred at the beginning of the earliest period presented or to project the Company’s results of operations in
any future period.
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11. DEBT

Revolving Credit Facility

On December 31, 2018, the Company entered into a Second Amendment to its Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of November 24, 2014 (as amended, the
“Revolving Credit Facility”), with SunTrust Bank (“SunTrust”), which extended the maturity date to November 24, 2020. Under the Revolving Credit Facility,
the Company may borrow up to $50.0 million, which includes a $5.0 million swing line sub-facility and a $5.0 million letter of credit sub-facility, as well as an
accordion feature that allows the Company to increase the Revolving Credit Facility by a total of up to $25.0 million, subject to securing additional commitments
from existing lenders or new lending institutions. The obligations under the Revolving Credit Facility are guaranteed by each of the Company’s subsidiaries. At
the Company’s election, the borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility bear interest at either (1) a rate per annum equal to the highest of SunTrust’s prime
rate or 0.5% in excess of the Federal Funds Rate or 1.0% in excess of one-month LIBOR (the “Base Rate”), plus an applicable margin, or (2) the one, two, three,
or six month per annum LIBOR for deposits in the applicable currency (the “Eurocurrency Rate”), as selected by the Company, plus an applicable margin. The
applicable margin for Eurocurrency Rate loans depends on the Company’s funded debt leverage ratio and varies from 1.50% to 2.00%. The applicable margin for
Base Rate loans depends on the Company’s funded debt leverage ratio and varies from 0.50% to 1.50%. Commitment fees and letter of credit fees are also
payable under the Revolving Credit Facility. Principal is payable in full at maturity on November 24, 2020, and there are no scheduled principal payments prior to
maturity. The Company is required to pay a commitment fee ranging between 20 and 30 basis points per annum of the average daily unused portion of the
Revolving Credit Facility, depending on the Company’s funded debt leverage ratio.

The purpose of the Revolving Credit Facility is for general working capital needs, permitted acquisitions (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility), and for
stock repurchase and/or redemption transactions that the Company may authorize.

The Revolving Credit Facility contains certain covenants that, among other things, restrict additional indebtedness, liens and encumbrances, changes to the
character of the Company’s business, acquisitions, asset dispositions, mergers and consolidations, sale or discount of receivables, creation or acquisitions of
additional subsidiaries, and other matters customarily restricted in such agreements.

In addition, the Revolving Credit Facility requires the Company to meet certain financial tests, including, without limitation:

• a funded debt leverage ratio (consolidated debt/consolidated EBITDA) of not greater than 3.0 to 1.0; and

• an interest coverage ratio (consolidated EBITDA/consolidated interest expense) of not less than 3.0 to 1.0.

As of June 30, 2019, the Company was in compliance with all covenants. There were no balances outstanding on the Revolving Credit Facility as of or during
the three and six months ended June 30, 2019.  

12. LEASES

Effective January 1, 2019, the Company adopted ASC 842, which requires an entity to recognize a right-of-use (“ROU”) asset and a lease liability on the
balance sheet for substantially all leases, including operating leases, using the modified retrospective approach. The Company elected to use the package of
practicable expedients which allows companies to not reassess the following: (1) the lease classification for any expired or existing leases, (2) the treatment of
initial direct costs as they related to existing leases, and (3) whether expired or existing contracts are or contain leases. The Company did not elect the use of
the hindsight practical expedient, but did elect the practical expedient not to separate lease components from non-lease components related to its office space
leases.

Upon adoption of ASC 842, the Company had non-cancellable operating leases for office space subject to recognition as ROU assets. Accordingly, on
January 1, 2019 the Company recorded $4.8 million in ROU assets and $6.4 million in operating lease liabilities (the difference of $1.6 million related to
existing deferred rent liabilities as of December 31, 2018 which had the effect of reducing the ROU asset upon adoption). During 2019, the Company
acquired an operating lease as part of its acquisition of Providigm, resulting in a $1.2 million ROU asset and lease liability, and another operating lease for
office space commenced for the Company’s new corporate headquarters in Nashville, TN, resulting in a $26.5 million ROU asset and lease liability. As of
June 30, 2019, the Company does not have any leases that have not yet commenced.
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The Company does not have any lease contracts that contain: (1) an option to extend that the Company is reasonably certain to exercise, (2) an option to
terminate that the Company is reasonably certain not to exercise, or (3) an option to extend (or not to terminate) in which exercise of the option is controlled
by the lessor. Additionally, the Company does not have any leases with residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants. For leases already
commenced, the lease term was determined to be the remaining months in the lease term as of January 1, 2019, the date of adoption. The Company has
elected not to recognize leases with initial terms of one year or less on the balance sheet. Lease liabilities and their corresponding right-of-use assets have
been recorded based on the present value of the future lease payments over the expected lease term. Most of the Company’s lease agreements contain
provisions for escalating rent payments over the terms of the leases.

The Company’s leases do not contain readily determinable implicit discount rates, and as such the Company must use its incremental borrowing rate to
discount the future lease payments based on information available at lease commencement. The incremental borrowing rate was estimated by determining the
rate of interest that the Company would have to pay to borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term an amount equal to the lease payments in a similar
economic environment.  

The Company’s operating lease cost as presented in other general and administrative expense in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Income was $1.4
million and $2.6 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, respectively. Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating
lease liabilities was $1.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019. As of June 30, 2019, the weighted-average remaining lease term was 11.0 years, and
the weighted-average incremental borrowing rate was 6%.

The table below presents the lease-related assets and liabilities recorded on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet as of June 30, 2019 (in thousands).

 
Assets Classification     

Operating lease right-of-use assets Operating lease right of use assets, net  $ 30,774 
Total leased assets   $ 30,774 

Liabilities      
Operating lease liabilities, current Accounts payable and accrued expenses  $ 1,693 
Operating lease liabilities, noncurrent Operating lease liability, noncurrent   32,046 

Total operating lease liabilities   $ 33,739
 

The table below presents the maturities of lease liabilities under non-cancellable leases as of June 30, 2019 (in thousands).

 
2019   1,353 
2020   4,705 
2021   4,505 
2022   4,124 
2023   3,979 
Thereafter   28,655 

Total undiscounted lease payments   47,321 
Less imputed interest   13,582 

Total lease liabilities  $ 33,739
 

 

13. NON-MARKETABLE EQUITY INVESTMENTS

Non-marketable equity investments, where the Company is not able to exercise significant influence over the investee, are accounted for under the cost
method. ASU 2016-01, Financial Instruments – Overall (Subtopic 825-10), became effective for the Company as of January 1, 2018 and requires equity
investments (except those accounted for under the equity method of accounting or those that result in consolidation of the investee) to be measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognized in net income. The aggregate carrying amount of all cost method investments was $5.4 million and $2.1 million as
of June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively, which carrying value we evaluate for impairment at each reporting period. Cumulatively, the Company
has recorded $1.3 million in reductions to the carrying value of cost method investments due to downward changes in fair value based on observable prices from
orderly transactions for similar investments made in the investee. The fair value of cost method investments is not estimated if there are no identified events or
changes in circumstances that may have a significant adverse effect on the fair value of the investment.
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Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Special Cautionary Notice Regarding Forward‑Looking Statements

You should read the following discussion and analysis in conjunction with our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes included
elsewhere in this report and our audited Consolidated Financial Statements and the notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2018, appearing in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K that was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on February 25, 2019 (the “2018 Form 10-K”). Statements contained
in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that are not historical facts are forward-looking statements that the Company intends to be covered by the safe harbor
provisions for forward-looking statements contained in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Statements that are predictive in nature, that depend
on or refer to future events or conditions, or that include words such as “anticipates,” “believes,” “could,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “may,” “plans,”
“potential,” “predicts,” “ projects,” “should,” “will,” “would,” and similar expressions are forward-looking statements.

The Company cautions that forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factors that may cause actual results,
performance, or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance, or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking
statements. Forward-looking statements reflect our current views with respect to future events and are based on assumptions and subject to risks and uncertainties.
Given these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements.

In evaluating any forward-looking statement, you should specifically consider the information regarding forward-looking statements and the information set forth
under the caption Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors in our 2018 Form 10-K and the information regarding forward-looking statements and other disclosures in our
2018 Form 10-K, earnings releases and other filings with the SEC from time to time, as well as other cautionary statements contained elsewhere in this report,
including the matters discussed in “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates.” We undertake no obligation beyond that required by law to update publicly any
forward-looking statements for any reason, even if new information becomes available or other events occur in the future. You should read this report and the
documents that we reference in this report and have filed as exhibits to this report completely and with the understanding that our actual future results may be
materially different from what we currently expect.

Overview

HealthStream provides workforce and provider solutions for healthcare organizations—all designed to develop the people that deliver patient care, which, in
turn, supports the improvement of business and clinical outcomes. Workforce Solutions products are used by healthcare organizations to meet a broad range
of their clinical development, talent management, training, certification, competency assessment, and performance appraisal needs. Provider Solutions
products are used by healthcare organizations for provider credentialing, privileging, and enrollment needs. HealthStream’s customers include healthcare
organizations, pharmaceutical and medical device companies, and other participants in the healthcare industry. At June 30, 2019, we had approximately 2.34
million contracted subscriptions to hStreamTM, our Platform-as-a-Service technology. hStream technology enables healthcare organizations and their
respective workforces to easily connect to and gain value from the growing HealthStream ecosystem of applications, tools, and content.

On February 12, 2018, the Company divested its Patient Experience (“PX”) business to Press Ganey for $65.2 million in cash (after giving effect to the post-
closing adjustment), resulting in a gain, net of tax, of $20.2 million.

Prior to the disposition of the PX business, our Patient Experience Solutions products provided our customers information about patients’ experiences and how to
improve them, workforce engagement, physician relations, and community perceptions of their services. The historical financial results of the PX business for
periods prior to the closing of the disposition of the PX business on February 12, 2018 are reflected in the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements as discontinued operations. This sale of the PX business resulted in the Company’s divestiture of the patient experience solutions business segment.

Key financial indicators of operations for the second quarter of 2019 are set forth in the bullets below.

• Our Chief Executive Officer, Robert A. Frist, Jr.,  contributed $2.2 million of his personally owned HealthStream stock to the Company in order to facilitate
the grant of 78,520 shares of common stock to approximately 820 employees under our 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan, which grant resulted in a
corresponding $2.2 million charge for stock based compensation and related expense in the second quarter

• Revenues of $63.8 million in the second quarter of 2019, up 12% from $57.0 million in the second quarter of 2018

• Operating income of $2.3 million in the second quarter of 2019, down 47% from $4.3 million in the second quarter of 2018, which was negatively
impacted in the amount of $2.2 million by the charge associated with the stock grant to employees referenced above

• Income from continuing operations of $2.4 million in the second quarter of 2019, down 34% from $3.7 million in the second quarter of 2018, which was
negatively impacted in the amount of $1.7 million by the charge associated with the stock grant to employees referenced above
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• Earnings per share (EPS) from continuing operations of $0.07 per share (diluted) in the second quarter of 2019, which was negatively impacted by $0.05
from the charge associated with the stock grant to employees referenced above, compared to EPS from continuing operations of $0.11 per share (diluted)
in the second quarter of 2018

• Adjusted EBITDA1 from continuing operations of $11.8 million in the second quarter of 2019, up 10% from $10.7 million in the second quarter of 2018

(1) Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations is a non-GAAP financial measure. A reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations to income from continuing operations and
disclosure regarding why we believe adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations provides useful information to investors is included later in this report.

As referenced above, in June 2019, Robert A. Frist, Jr. contributed 78,520 of his personally owned shares of common stock (with a value of $2.0 million) to the
Company for the benefit of HealthStream employees, without any consideration paid to Mr. Frist. In connection therewith, the Company has approved the grant
of the same number of shares under its 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan to approximately 820 of its employees. These shares were issued in July 2019. Mr. Frist also
contributed an additional 7,852 of his personally owned shares to cover the Company’s costs associated with such grants, such as administrative expenses and
employer payroll taxes. Together, these grants resulted in the Company recognizing approximately $2.0 million stock based compensation expense and $0.2
million payroll tax expense in the second quarter of 2019. The only shareholder who will be diluted from these transactions will be Mr. Frist. See Note 5 to the
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, included within this report, for additional information.

On January 10, 2019, the Company acquired the outstanding equity of Providigm, LLC (“Providigm”), a Denver-based company focused on quality assurance
and performance improvement in healthcare, primarily serving skilled nursing facilities, for $18.0 million in cash. In addition, up to an additional $500,000 in
cash may be paid by the Company contingent upon the performance of Providigm during an 18-month period following closing. The results of operations for
Providigm have been included in the HealthStream Workforce Solutions segment of our Financial Statements from the date of acquisition.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The Company’s Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with US GAAP. These accounting principles require us to make
certain estimates, judgments, and assumptions during the preparation of our Financial Statements. We believe the estimates, judgments, and assumptions upon
which we rely are reasonable based upon information available to us at the time they are made. These estimates, judgments, and assumptions can affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the Financial Statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the periods
presented. To the extent there are material differences between these estimates, judgments, or assumptions and actual results, our Financial Statements will be
affected.

The accounting policies and estimates that we believe are the most critical in fully understanding and evaluating our reported financial results include the
following:

 • Revenue recognition

 • Accounting for income taxes

 • Software development costs

 • Goodwill, intangibles, and other long-lived assets

 • Allowance for doubtful accounts

In many cases, the accounting treatment of a particular transaction is specifically dictated by US GAAP and does not require management’s judgment in its
application. There are also areas where management’s judgment in selecting among available alternatives would not produce a materially different result. See
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in our 2018 Form 10-K and the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements herein, which contain
additional information regarding our accounting policies and other disclosures required by US GAAP. There have been no material changes in our critical
accounting policies and estimates from those reported in our 2018 Form 10-K. Note 2 in the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
summarizes new accounting guidance issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) that has been recently adopted by the Company, or not
yet adopted by the Company, and our evaluation of such accounting guidance and the anticipated impact of such guidance (if known) on the Company.
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Three Months Ended June 30, 2019 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30, 2018

Revenues, net. Revenues increased $6.8 million, or 12%, to $63.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2019 from $57.0 million for the three months ended
June 30, 2018.

A comparison of revenues by business segment is as follows (in thousands):
 

  Three Months Ended June 30,  

Revenues by Business Segment:  2019   2018   
Percentage

Change  
Workforce Solutions  $ 52,422  $ 46,968   12%
Provider Solutions   11,359   10,040   13%

Total revenues, net  $ 63,781  $ 57,008   12%
             

% of Revenues             
Workforce Solutions   82%   82%     
Provider Solutions   18%   18%    

 

 
Revenues for HealthStream Workforce Solutions increased $5.4 million, or 12%, to $52.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2019 from $47.0 million
for the three months ended June 30, 2018. Revenue growth in 2019 was positively impacted by higher revenues from our legacy resuscitation products, which
were $15.5 million in the second quarter of 2019 compared to $13.2 million in the second quarter of 2018, and growth in our proprietary learning and compliance
products. The acquisition of Providigm, which was completed in January 2019, also added $1.8 million of revenue to the second quarter of 2019.

Revenues for HealthStream Provider Solutions increased $1.4 million, or 13%, to $11.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2019 from $10.0 million for
the three months ended June 30, 2018. Revenue growth was primarily a result of new Verity platform subscriptions and professional services for implementation
of new customers.

Cost of Revenues (excluding depreciation and amortization). Cost of revenues increased $3.6 million, or 15%, to $26.8 million for the three months ended
June 30, 2019 from $23.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2018. Cost of revenues as a percentage of revenues was 42% and 41% for the
three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Cost of revenues for HealthStream Workforce Solutions increased $2.9 million to $22.9 million and approximated 44% and 43% of revenues for HealthStream
Workforce Solutions for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The increase is primarily associated with increased royalties paid by us
resulting from growth in courseware subscription revenues, personnel costs, and stock based compensation related to the stock awards granted during the three
months ended June 30, 2019. Cost of revenues for HealthStream Provider Solutions increased $664,000 to $3.9 million and approximated 35% and 32% of
HealthStream Provider Solutions revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The increase is primarily associated with increased
personnel costs and stock based compensation related to the stock awards granted during the three months ended June 30, 2019 as described above.

Product Development. Product development expenses increased $1.1 million, or 17%, to $7.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2019 from $6.5 million
for the three months ended June 30, 2018. Product development expenses as a percentage of revenues were 12% and 11% for the three months ended June 30,
2019 and 2018, respectively.

Product development expenses for HealthStream Workforce Solutions increased $1.1 million to $6.3 million and approximated 12% and 11% of revenues for
HealthStream Workforce Solutions for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The increase is primarily due to increased personnel costs
and stock based compensation related to the stock awards granted during the three months ended June 30, 2019 as described above. Product development
expenses for HealthStream Provider Solutions increased $29,000 to $1.3 million and approximated 11% and 12% of revenues for HealthStream Provider
Solutions for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses, including personnel costs, increased $906,000, or 10%, to $9.8 million for the three months ended June 30,
2019 from $8.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2018. Sales and marketing expenses were 15% and 16% of revenues for the three months ended
June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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Sales and marketing expenses for HealthStream Workforce Solutions increased $776,000 to $8.0 million and approximated 15% of revenues for HealthStream
Workforce Solutions for both the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018. The increase is primarily due higher stock based compensation related to the stock
awards granted during the three months ended June 30, 2019 as described above as well as higher sales commissions, consistent with the increases in revenue.
Sales and marketing expenses for HealthStream Provider Solutions increased $196,000 to $1.5 million and approximated 14% of revenues for HealthStream
Provider Solutions for both the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018. The increase is due to increased personnel and related costs and stock based
compensation related to stock awards granted during the three months ended June 30, 2019. The unallocated portion of sales and marketing expenses decreased
$66,000 to $279,000 compared to the prior year period primarily due to decreases in personnel costs.

Other General and Administrative Expenses. Other general and administrative expenses increased $2.3 million, or 28%, to $10.3 million for the
three months ended June 30, 2019 from $8.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2018. Other general and administrative expenses as a percentage of
revenues were 16% and 14% of revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Other general and administrative expenses for HealthStream Workforce Solutions increased $1.4 million to $3.6 million and approximated 7% and 5% of
HealthStream Workforce Solutions revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The increase is primarily due to higher facilities
expense related to our new corporate headquarters as well as increased personnel costs. Other general and administrative expenses for HealthStream Provider
Solutions decreased $395,000 to $795,000 and approximated 7% and 12% of HealthStream Provider Solutions revenues for the three months ended June 30,
2019 and 2018, respectively. The decrease is due to lower contract labor and facilities costs. The unallocated corporate portion of other general and administrative
expenses increased $1.3 million to $5.9 million compared to the prior year period primarily due to increases to personnel, software expenses, and stock based
compensation.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization was $6.9 million and $6.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018,
respectively. The increase resulted from an increase in amortization of capitalized software and intangible assets, as well as depreciation of property and
equipment.

Other Income, Net. Other income, net was $852,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2019 compared to $476,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2018.
The increase is a result of higher interest income from cash and investments in marketable securities.

Income Tax Provision. The Company recorded a provision for income taxes from continuing operations of $719,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2019
compared to $1.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2018. The Company’s effective tax rate was 23% for both the three months ended June 30, 2019
and 2018, respectively.

Income from Continuing Operations. Income from continuing operations was $2.4 million in the second quarter of 2019, up from $3.7 million in the second
quarter of 2018, which decline was driven by the $1.7 million charge associated with the stock grant to employees referenced above. Earnings per diluted share
from continuing operations were $0.07 and $0.11 per share for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

(Loss) Income from Discontinued Operations. The Company recorded no (loss) income from discontinued operations for the three months ended June 30, 2019
compared to a loss of $1.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2018. Loss from discontinued operations during the three months ended June 30, 2018 was
primarily due to a reduction in the gain previously recognized by the Company in connection with the sale of the PX business in February 2018.

Net Income. Net income decreased $144,000, to $2.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2019 from $2.5 million for the three months ended
June 30, 2018. Earnings per diluted share were $0.07 and $0.08 per share for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Adjusted EBITDA (a non-GAAP financial measure which we define as net income before interest, income taxes, stock based compensation, and depreciation
and amortization) from continuing operations increased 10% to $11.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2019, compared to $10.7 million for the
three months ended June 30, 2018. Adjusted EBITDA was not impacted by the stock contribution and grant transactions described above, except for the $0.2
million payroll tax expense.

Adjusted EBITDA increased $2.6 million to $11.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2019, compared to $9.2 million for the three months ended
June 30, 2018, which increase was primarily driven by the divestiture of the PX business as noted above. See “Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial
Measures” below for our reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations and Adjusted EBITDA to the most directly comparable measures
under US GAAP.
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Six Months Ended June 30, 2019 Compared to Six Months Ended June 30, 2018

Revenues, net. Revenues increased $17.1 million, or 15%, to $129.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 from $111.9 million for the six months ended
June 30, 2018.

A comparison of revenues by business segment is as follows (in thousands):

  
Six Months Ended

June 30,  

Revenues by Business Segment:  2019   2018   
Percentage

Change  
Workforce Solutions  $ 106,716  $ 91,915   16%
Provider Solutions   22,251   19,951   12%

Total revenues, net  $ 128,967  $ 111,866   15%
             

% of Revenues             
Workforce Solutions   83%   82%     
Provider Solutions   17%   18%    

 

Revenues for HealthStream Workforce Solutions increased $14.8 million, or 16%, over the first six months of 2018. Revenue growth in 2019 was positively
impacted by higher revenues from our legacy resuscitation products, which were $32.8 million in the first six months of 2019 compared to $25.5 million in the
first six months of 2018, and growth in our proprietary learning and compliance products. The acquisition of Providigm, which was completed in January 2019
also added $3.3 million of revenue to the first six months of 2019.

Revenues for HealthStream Provider Solutions increased $2.3 million, or 12%, over the first six months of 2018. Revenue growth was primarily a result of new
Verity platform subscriptions and professional services for implementation of new customers.

Cost of Revenues (excluding depreciation and amortization). Cost of revenues increased $8.2 million, or 18%, to $53.7 million for the six months ended
June 30, 2019 from $45.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2018. Cost of revenues as a percentage of revenues was 42% and 41% for the six months
ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Cost of revenues for HealthStream Workforce Solutions increased $7.2 million to $46.1 million and approximated 43% and 42% of revenues for HealthStream
Workforce Solutions for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The increase is primarily associated with increased royalties paid by us
resulting from growth in courseware subscription revenues and additions to personnel. Cost of revenues for HealthStream Provider Solutions increased $1.0
million to $7.6 million and approximated 34% and 33% of HealthStream Provider Solutions revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018,
respectively. The increase is primarily due to increased personnel over the prior year period.

Product Development. Product development expenses increased $2.1 million, or 16%, to $14.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 from $12.5 million
for the six months ended June 30, 2018. Product development expenses as a percentage of revenues were 11% of revenues for both the six months ended June 30,
2019 and 2018.

Product development expenses for HealthStream Workforce Solutions increased $2.1 million to $12.2 million and approximated 11% of revenues for
HealthStream Workforce Solutions for both the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018. The increase is primarily due to increased personnel over the prior year
period. Product development expenses for HealthStream Provider Solutions decreased $13,000 to $2.4 million and approximated 11% and 12% of revenues for
HealthStream Provider Solutions for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses, including personnel costs, increased $1.4 million, or 8%, to $19.3 million for the six months ended June 30,
2019 from $18.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2018. Sales and marketing expenses were 15% and 16% of revenues for the six months ended June 30,
2019 and 2018, respectively.

Sales and marketing expenses for HealthStream Workforce Solutions increased $1.3 million to $15.8 million and approximated 15% and 16% of revenues for
HealthStream Workforce Solutions for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The increase is primarily due to higher sales commissions,
consistent with the increases in revenues, and stock based compensation related to the stock awards granted during the six months ended June 30, 2019. Sales and
marketing expenses for HealthStream Provider Solutions increased $173,000 to $3.0 million and approximated 13% and 14% of revenues for HealthStream
Provider Solutions for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The increase in amount is primarily associated with the increases to personnel
and related costs. The unallocated portion of sales and marketing expenses decreased $119,000 to $539,000 compared to the prior year period primarily due to
decreased personnel costs.
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Other General and Administrative Expenses. Other general and administrative expenses increased $4.5 million, or 29%, to $20.3 million for the six months ended
June 30, 2019 from $15.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2018. Other general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues were 16% and
14% of revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Other general and administrative expenses for HealthStream Workforce Solutions increased $2.5 million to $6.9 million and approximated 6% and 5% of
revenues for HealthStream Workforce Solutions for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The increase is primarily due to increases to
personnel, software expenses, facilities, and telecom costs. The acquisition of Providigm in January 2019 also contributed to this increase during the first six
months of 2019. Other general and administrative expenses for HealthStream Provider Solutions decreased $815,000 to $1.7 million and approximated 8% and
13% of revenues for HealthStream Provider Solutions for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The decrease is primarily associated with
lower contract labor expense compared to the prior year period. The unallocated corporate portion of other general and administrative expenses increased $2.8
million to $11.7 million compared to the first six months of 2018 primarily due to increases in software expenses as well as increases to personnel and related
costs over the prior year period.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization increased $1.4 million, or 11%, to $13.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 from
$12.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2018. The increase resulted from an increase in amortization of capitalized software and intangible assets, as well
as depreciation of property and equipment.

Other Income, Net. Other income, net was $1.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 compared to $789,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2018.
This increase is a result of higher interest income from cash and investments in marketable securities.

Income Tax Provision. The Company recorded a provision for income taxes of $2.1 million and $1.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018,
respectively. The Company’s effective tax rate was 23% for the six months ended June 30, 2019 compared to 17% for the six months ended June 30, 2018.
During the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company recorded excess tax benefits from stock based awards of $123,000 and $663,000,
respectively, as a component of the provision for income taxes, which reduced the effective tax rate compared to the statutory tax rates.

Income from Continuing Operations. Income from continuing operations was $7.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 compared to $7.3 million for
the six months ended June 30, 2018. Earnings per diluted share from continuing operations were $0.22 and $0.23 per share for the six months ended June 30,
2019 and 2018, respectively.

(Loss) Income from Discontinued Operations. (Loss) income from discontinued operations was income of $1.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019,
compared to income of $19.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2018. Income from discontinued operations during the six months ended June 30, 2019
was the result of the release of escrow funds. The gain, net of tax, of $19.1 million recognized by the Company during the six months ended June 30, 2018,
related to the sale of the PX business, which occurred on February 12, 2018.

Net Income. Net income decreased to $8.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 from $26.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2018. This
decrease was attributable to the $19.1 million gain from the sale of the PX business. Earnings per diluted share were $0.26 per share and $0.82 per share for the
six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations increased 16% to $24.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019, compared to $20.9 million for the six
months ended June 30, 2018.

Adjusted EBITDA decreased $24.6 million to $25.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 compared to $50.5 million for the six months ended
June 30, 2018. This decrease resulted from the factors mentioned above. See Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures below for our reconciliation
of this calculation to measures under US GAAP.

Discontinued Operations

On February 12, 2018, the Company divested its PX business to Press Ganey for $65.2 million in cash (after giving effect to the post-closing working capital
adjustment). This sale of the PX business resulted in the divestiture of our patient experience solutions business segment. We recorded a gain on sale, net of tax,
of $20.2 million, of which $19.0 million was recorded during the year ended December 31, 2018 and $1.2 million was recorded during the six months ended
June 30, 2019. With the proceeds of this sale, our Board of Directors declared a $1.00 per common share special cash dividend, which was paid on April 3, 2018
to shareholders of record on March 6, 2018.

We have classified the results of our PX segment as discontinued operations in our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income and Cash Flows for all periods
presented. See Note 8 to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in this report for additional information.
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Other Developments

Our legacy agreements with Laerdal (the “Legacy Agreements”) for the HeartCode and Resuscitation Quality Improvement (“RQI”) products expired
pursuant to their terms on December 31, 2018. Revenues associated with sales of HeartCode and RQI products pursuant to the Legacy Agreements have been
significant in recent years, although margins on such products have been lower than HealthStream’s average margin. In 2018, revenue generated by
HeartCode and RQI products pursuant to the Legacy Agreements was $55 million. During the six months ended June 30, 2019, as noted above, we recorded
revenue of $32.8 million related to HeartCode and RQI products under the Legacy Agreements compared to $25.5 million for the six months ended June 30,
2018. In addition, during the three months ended June 30, 2019, as noted above, we recorded revenue of $15.5 million related to HeartCode and RQI products
under the Legacy Agreements compared to $13.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2018. We expect revenue from HeartCode and RQI products
generated pursuant to the Legacy Agreements to decline sequentially on a quarterly basis and that revenue to be generated from such products during the last
six months of 2019 to be approximately $26 million to $27 million. We also continue to expect revenue from HeartCode and RQI products sold pursuant to
the Legacy Agreements to be zero in the first quarter of 2021.

On December 6, 2018, we announced a new agreement with RQI Partners, a joint venture between Laerdal and the American Heart Association. This
agreement with RQI Partners was not an extension or renewal of the expired Legacy Agreements with Laerdal and should not be construed as such. Under
our agreement with RQI Partners, HealthStream will neither market nor sell HeartCode or RQI. Our RQI Partners agreement provides for continuity of
service for customers that desire to purchase HeartCode or RQI from RQI Partners after December 31, 2018 and receive it via the HealthStream Learning
Center. RQI Partners will remit a fee to us when new sales of HeartCode and RQI are delivered via the HealthStream Learning Center. This fee will not be
sufficient to supplant the revenue runout associated with the Legacy Agreements.

We remain actively engaged in efforts to broaden the scope and utilization of our simulation-related offerings to include a range of clinical competencies that
extend beyond resuscitation, and we intend to bring to market a broadened scope of simulation-based offerings, including resuscitation programs. On January
17, 2019, as part of a seven-year collaboration agreement with the American Red Cross which spans to 2026, we announced the launch of the American Red
Cross Resuscitation Suite. We have now begun efforts to market, sell, and deliver the American Red Cross Resuscitation Suite. Several customers have been
implemented, and we began to recognize a de minimis amount of revenue under this agreement during the second quarter of 2019. We believe our efforts to
market, sell, and deliver the American Red Cross Resuscitation Suite, along with efforts to bring additional simulation-related offerings to market, have the
potential to give rise to additional and higher margin opportunities than those that existed under the Legacy Agreements. However, there is no assurance that
we will be successful in these efforts, and to the extent that new simulation-based or other solutions do not generate revenue and/or earnings in a manner that
supplants the impact of the Legacy Agreements, our revenue and results of operations may be adversely affected.

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures

This report presents adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations and adjusted EBITDA, both of which are non-GAAP financial measures used by
management in analyzing our financial results and ongoing operational performance.

In order to better assess the Company’s financial results, management believes that net income before interest, income taxes, stock based compensation,
depreciation and amortization, and changes in fair value of cost method investments (“adjusted EBITDA”) is a useful measure for evaluating the operating
performance of the Company because adjusted EBITDA reflects net income adjusted for certain non-cash and non-operating items. Management also
believes that adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations is a useful measure for evaluating the operating performance of the Company because such
measure excludes the results of operations of the PX business that we no longer own and the gain on sale in connection with the sale of such business in
February 2018 and thus reflects the Company’s ongoing business operations and assists in comparing the Company’s results of operations between periods.
We also believe that adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations are useful to many investors to assess the Company’s ongoing
results from current operations. Adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations are non-GAAP financial measures and should not be
considered as measures of financial performance under GAAP. Because adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations are not
measurements determined in accordance with GAAP, such non-GAAP financial measures are susceptible to varying calculations. Accordingly, adjusted
EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations, as presented, may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures of other companies.

These non-GAAP financial measures should not be considered as a substitute for, or superior to, measures of financial performance which are prepared in
accordance with US GAAP and may be different from non-GAAP financial measures used by other companies and have limitations as analytical tools.  
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A reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations to the most directly comparable GAAP measures is set forth below (in
thousands).
 

  
Three Months Ended

June 30,   
Six Months Ended

June 30,  
  2019   2018   2019   2018  

GAAP income from continuing operations  $ 2,401  $ 3,656  $ 7,181  $ 7,285 
Interest income   (884)   (510)   (1,674)   (850)
Interest expense   30   32   51   66 
Income tax provision   719   1,084   2,130   1,498 
Stock based compensation expense   2,558   427   3,074   846 
Depreciation and amortization   6,942   6,019   13,480   12,091 
Change in fair value of cost method investments   —   —   —   — 
Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations  $ 11,766  $ 10,708  $ 24,242  $ 20,936 
                 
GAAP net income  $ 2,401  $ 2,545  $ 8,375  $ 26,392 
Interest income   (884)   (510)   (1,674)   (850)
Interest expense   30   32   51   66 
Income tax provision   719   693   2,556   11,817 
Stock based compensation expense   2,558   427   3,074   755 
Depreciation and amortization   6,942   6,019   13,480   12,273 
Change in fair value of cost method investments   —   —   —   — 
Adjusted EBITDA  $ 11,766  $ 9,206  $ 25,862  $ 50,453

 

 
Liquidity and Capital Resources

Net cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations increased by $20.4 million, or 126% to $36.6 million during the six months ended June 30,
2019 from $16.2 million during the six months ended June 30, 2018. The increase compared to the prior year period primarily resulted from reductions in
receivables, prepaid expenses and other current assets, and current liabilities. The number of days sales outstanding (“DSO”) was 47 days for the second quarter
of 2019 compared to 54 days for the second quarter of 2018. The decrease in DSO primarily relates to improved collections as compared to the prior year period.
The Company calculates DSO by dividing the average accounts receivable balance for the quarter by average daily revenues for the quarter. The Company’s
primary sources of cash were receipts generated from the sales of our products and services. The primary uses of cash to fund operations included personnel
expenses, sales commissions, royalty payments, payments for contract labor and other direct expenses associated with delivery of our products and services, and
general corporate expenses.

Net cash used in investing activities from continuing operations was $49.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 compared to net cash provided by
investing activities from continuing operations of $52.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2018. During the six months ended June 30, 2019, the
Company acquired Providigm for $18.0 million, invested in marketable securities of $44.2 million, purchased property and equipment of $19.6 million, made
payments for capitalized software development of $8.4 million, and invested $3.3 million in cost method investments. These uses of cash were partially offset by
$38.0 million in maturities of marketable securities and $6.2 million in proceeds from the sale of its PX business segment. During the six months ended
June 30, 2018, the Company divested its PX business segment, receiving proceeds from the sale of $57.8 million and had maturities of marketable securities of
$44.7 million. These sources of cash were partially offset by purchases of $3.3 million of property and equipment, $5.1 million for capitalized software
development, and $41.3 million for investments in marketable securities.

Net cash used in financing activities from continuing operations was $860,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2019 compared to $30.1 million for the six
months ended June 30, 2018. For the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, the uses of cash included the payment of employee payroll taxes in relation to the
vesting of restricted share units (“RSU”) and stock awards of $985,000 and $300,000, respectively. In this regard, the Company net-share settled the employee
RSUs by withholding shares with value equivalent to the employee’s minimum statutory obligation for the applicable income and other employment taxes. The
uses of cash for both the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 also included $37,000 of payments of earn-outs related to prior acquisitions and also included
cash dividend payments of $52,000 and $32.4 million, respectively. The source of cash from financing activities for both the six months ended June 30, 2019 and
2018 was from the exercise of stock options of $214,000 and $2.6 million, respectively.
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Our balance sheet reflects positive working capital of $116.2 million at June 30, 2019 compared to $134.6 million at December 31, 2018. The decrease in
working capital is primarily a result of the acquisition of Providigm in January 2019. The Company’s primary source of liquidity as of June 30, 2019 was $120.8
million of cash and cash equivalents and $40.7 million of marketable securities. The Company also has a $50.0 million revolving credit facility, all of which was
available for additional borrowing at June 30, 2019. The revolving credit facility expires on November 24, 2020, unless earlier renewed or amended.

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, cash generated from operations, and available borrowings under our revolving
credit facility will be sufficient to meet anticipated working capital needs, new product development, and capital expenditures for at least the next 12 months.

In addition, the Company’s growth strategy includes acquiring businesses or making strategic investments in businesses that complement or enhance our
business. It is anticipated that future acquisitions or strategic investments, if any, would be effected through cash consideration, stock consideration, or a
combination of both. The issuance of our stock as consideration for an acquisition or to raise additional capital could have a dilutive effect on earnings per
share and could adversely affect our stock price. Our revolving credit facility contains financial covenants and availability calculations designed to set a
maximum leverage ratio of outstanding debt to adjusted EBITDA and an interest coverage ratio of adjusted EBITDA to interest expense. Therefore, the
maximum borrowings against our revolving credit facility would be dependent on the covenant calculations at the time of borrowing. As of June 30, 2019, we
were in compliance with all covenants. There can be no assurance that amounts available for borrowing under our revolving credit facility will be sufficient to
consummate any possible acquisitions, and we cannot assure you that if we need additional financing that it will be available on terms favorable to us, or at
all. Failure to generate sufficient cash flow from operations or raise additional capital when required in sufficient amounts and on terms acceptable to us could
harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

The Company is exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates. We do not have any material foreign currency exchange rate risk or commodity price risk.
As of June 30, 2019 and during the six months then ended, the Company had no outstanding debt. We may become subject to interest rate market risk associated
with any future borrowings under our revolving credit facility. The interest rate under the revolving credit facility varies depending on the interest rate option
selected by the Company plus a margin determined in accordance with a pricing grid. We are also exposed to market risk with respect to our cash and investment
balances, which approximated $161.6 million at June 30, 2019. Assuming a hypothetical 10% decrease in interest rates for invested balances, interest income
from cash and investments would decrease on an annualized basis by $396,000.

The Company’s investment policy and strategy is focused on investing in highly rated securities, with the objective of minimizing the potential risk of principal
loss. The Company’s policy limits the amount of credit exposure to any single issuer and sets limits on the average portfolio maturity.

The above market risk discussion and the estimated amounts presented are forward‑looking statements of market risk assuming the occurrence of certain adverse
market conditions. Actual results in the future may differ materially from those projected as a result of actual developments in the market.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Controls and Procedures

HealthStream’s chief executive officer and principal financial officer have reviewed and evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”)) as of the end of the
period covered by this Quarterly Report. Based on that evaluation, the chief executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that
HealthStream’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that the information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports the
Company files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and
forms, and the information required to be disclosed in the reports the Company files or submits under the Exchange Act was accumulated and communicated
to the Company’s management, including its chief executive officer and principal financial officer, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.  

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change in HealthStream’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the second quarter of 2019 that has materially affected, or
that is reasonably likely to materially affect, HealthStream’s internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II ‑ OTHER INFORMATION

Item 6. Exhibits

 (a) Exhibits
 
10.18*  HealthStream, Inc. Amended 2019 Executive and Corporate Management Cash Incentive Bonus Plan
   
10.19*  HealthStream, Inc. Amended 2019 Provider Solutions Cash Incentive Bonus Plan
   
10.20*  Contribution Agreement dated as of June 26, 2019 between HealthStream, Inc. and Robert A Frist, Jr.
   
31.1  Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
   
31.2  Certification of the Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
   
32.1  Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
   
32.2  Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
   
101.1 INS  XBRL Instance Document – The instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline

XBRL document.
   
101.1 SCH  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
   
101.1 CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
   
101.1 DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
   
101.1 LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
   

101.1 PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
   

* - Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.
 
 HEALTHSTREAM, INC.
    
July 26, 2019 By:  /s/ SCOTT A. ROBERTS

   Scott A. Roberts
   Interim Chief Financial Officer
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EXHIBIT 10.18 

HealthStream, Inc.
Board of Directors

Compensation Committee
Amended 2019 Executive and Corporate Management Cash Incentive Bonus Plan

 
Overview:
 

Pursuant to the HealthStream, Inc. 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan, the Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) of the Board of Directors of
HealthStream, Inc. (the “Company”) hereby establishes this Amended 2019 Executive and Corporate Management Cash Incentive Bonus Plan (the “Plan”).  The Plan
is the cash-based, short-term incentive portion of HealthStream's incentive compensation structure for certain executive officers, as well as the vice presidents,
associate vice presidents, and directors who are assigned to a corporate function, as opposed to a business unit specific function (such individuals referred to
collectively as “Management”).  The purpose of the Plan is to specify appropriate opportunities to earn a cash bonus with respect to the Company’s 2019 fiscal year in
order to reward Management for the Company’s financial performance during fiscal year 2019 and to further align their interests with those of the shareholders of the
Company.
 
Definitions:

 
 • Actual Operating Income before bonuses – The Company’s Operating Income achieved in fiscal 2019, excluding bonuses.

 
 • Annual Bonus – The annual bonus paid to Management after the Committee determines the applicable financial measure has been achieved.

 
 • Incremental Operating Income - Actual Operating Income before bonuses less Target Operating Income.

 
 • Operating Income – The Company’s operating income for the 2019 fiscal year calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles under ASC 606 and consistent with the Company’s past practice and presented in the Company’s audited financial statements, provided
the following are excluded from the calculation of Operating Income: (i) acquisition and divestiture expenses incurred within the calendar year to
the extent such expenses are in excess of the amount originally allocated to such purpose in the Company’s 2019 budget; (ii) operating income
(loss) from acquisitions and divestitures consummated during the calendar year; and (iii) expenses in connection with the stock contribution from
Robert A. Frist, Jr. to the Company on or about June 26, 2019 and the associated stock issuance from the Company to non-executive officers of the
Company on or about July 25, 2019 (collectively, the “Excluded Expenses”).  The Committee has the negative discretion to include the Excluded
Expenses in the calculation of Operating Income.

 
 • Target Operating Income – Operating Income for the 2019 fiscal year in an amount established by the Committee by resolution within the first 90

days of the Company’s 2019 fiscal year.
 
 
2019 Financial Measure and Plan Principles:
 
 1. The financial measure for 2019 is Operating Income - Operating Income will be the financial measure for 2019.
 
 2. The Annual Bonus is funded by Incremental Operating Income - The Annual Bonus will be earned from the amount of Incremental Operating

Income.
 
The Plan
 
Eligibility
 

 



 
Three groups are eligible for participation in the Plan:
 
 • Executive Team – The maximum Annual Bonus that Executive Team members, other than the Chief Executive Officer of HealthStream and

the President & Chief Operating Officer of HealthStream, shall be eligible to receive under the Plan shall be an amount equal to 30% of such
member’s base salary; provided the CEO and the President & COO shall be eligible to receive an amount equal to 40% of their base
salary.  Unless otherwise excluded below, the Executive Team eligible for participation includes the Chief Executive Officer, President &
Chief Operating Officer, and Senior Vice Presidents of the Company.

 
 •       Leadership Team (Vice Presidents and Associate Vice Presidents) – The  

      maximum Annual Bonus that Vice Presidents and Associate Vice Presidents of    
      the Business Unit shall be eligible to receive under the Plan shall be an amount
      equal to 16% of such Vice President or Associate Vice President’s base salary.
 

 • Directors - The maximum Annual Bonus that Directors of the Business Unit shall be eligible to receive under the Plan shall be an amount
equal to 4% of such Director’s base salary.  For purposes of clarity, Directors do not include members of the Board of Directors, but are
management-level employees of the Company.

 
 •       Employment Requirements – Participants in the Plan who were employed with  

the Company through December 31, 2019 shall be eligible to receive bonus payments, if any, under the Plan regardless of whether such
employees are employed on the date such payments are actually made.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of death or disability, the
participant’s pro rata share from January 1, 2019 through the date of participant’s death or disability shall be awarded.

 
 • Exclusions - Members of the Executive Team with a commission based incentive compensation plan shall not be eligible to participate in the

Plan. Additionally, members of the Executive Team who are eligible to participate in any one of the following shall not be eligible to
participate in the Plan:  (i) the 2019 Workforce Development Cash Bonus Incentive Plan, or (ii) the 2019 Provider Solutions Cash Bonus
Incentive Plan.

 
Payout
 
Payouts under the Plan shall be determined as follows:
 
 1. Incremental Operating Income will be determined by subtracting the Target Operating Income from Actual Operating Income before bonuses.  The

Incremental Operating Income will then be multiplied by 30% of base salary for each member of the Executive Team other than the Chief Executive
Officer and the President & COO, 40% of base salary for the CEO and the President & COO, 16% of base salary for each member of the Leadership
Team, and 4% of base salary for each Director.

 
 2. Any Annual Bonus payouts made to the Executive Team, Leadership Team, or Directors pursuant to the Plan shall be payable at such time as bonuses are

paid generally to executive officers of the Company.
 

 

 



 
EXHIBIT 10.19 

HealthStream, Inc.
Board of Directors

Compensation Committee
Amended 2019 Provider Solutions Cash Incentive Bonus Plan

For the Business Segment President
Overview:
 

Pursuant to the HealthStream, Inc. 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan, the Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) of the Board of Directors of
HealthStream, Inc. (the “Company”) hereby establishes this Amended 2019 Provider Solutions Cash Incentive Bonus Plan for the Business Segment President (the
“Plan”).  The Plan is a cash-based, short-term incentive portion of the Company’s Provider Solutions segment (the “Business Unit”) incentive compensation structure
for the president (“President”) of the Business Unit.  The purpose of the Plan is to specify appropriate opportunities to earn a cash bonus with respect to the (i)
Business Unit’s 2019 fiscal year performance and/or (ii) the Company’s overall 2019 fiscal year performance, each in order to reward the President for the Business
Unit’s and/or the Company’s financial performance during fiscal year 2019 and to further align his interest with those of the shareholders of the Company.
 
Definitions:
 

 
 • Provider Solutions Actual Operating Income before bonuses – The Business Unit’s Operating Income achieved in fiscal 2019, excluding

bonuses.
 

 • Enterprise Actual Operating Income before bonuses – The Company’s Operating Income achieved in fiscal 2019, excluding bonuses.
 

 • Annual Bonus – The annual bonus paid to President after the Committee determines the applicable financial measure has been achieved.
 

 • Provider Solutions Incremental Operating Income – Provider Solutions Actual Operating Income before bonuses less Provider Solutions Target
Operating Income.

 
 • Enterprise Incremental Operating Income – Enterprise Actual Operating Income before bonuses less Enterprise Target Operating Income.

 
 • Provider Solutions Operating Income – The Business Unit’s Operating Income for the 2019 fiscal year calculated in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles under ASC 606 and consistent with the Company’s past practice and presented in the Company’s audited financial
statements, provided the following expenses are excluded from the calculation of Provider Solutions Operating Income: for acquisitions and
divestitures within or directly impacting the Business Unit, acquisition and divestiture expenses for transactions within the calendar year and
operating income (loss) from acquisitions and divestitures consummated during the calendar year (the “Excluded Expenses”).  The Committee has
the negative discretion to include the Excluded Expenses in the calculation of Provider Solutions Operating Income.

 
 • Enterprise Operating Income - The Company’s Operating Income for the 2019 fiscal year calculated in accordance with generally accepted

accounting principles under ASC 606 and consistent with the Company’s past practice and presented in the Company’s audited financial
statements, provided the following  are excluded from the calculation of Operating Income: (i) acquisition and divestiture expenses incurred within
the calendar year to the extent such expenses are in excess of the amount originally allocated to such purpose in the Company’s 2019 budget; (ii)
operating income (loss) from acquisitions and divestitures consummated during the calendar year; and (iii) expenses in connection with the stock
contribution from Robert A. Frist, Jr. to the Company on or about June 26, 2019 and the associated stock issuance from the Company to non-
executive officers of the Company on or about July 25, 2019

 



 
 (collectively, the “Excluded Expenses”).  The Committee has the negative discretion to include the Excluded Expenses in the calculation of

Enterprise Operating Income.
 

 • Provider Solutions Target Operating Income – Provider Solutions Operating Income for the 2019 fiscal year in an amount established by the
Committee by resolution within the first 90 days of the Company’s 2019 fiscal year.

 
 • Enterprise Target Operating Income – Enterprise Operating Income for the 2019 fiscal year in an amount established by the Committee by

resolution within the first 90 days of the Company’s 2019 fiscal year.
 
 
2019 Financial Measure and Plan Principles:
 
 1. The financial measures for 2019 are Provider Solutions and/or Enterprise Operating Income – Provider Solutions and/or Enterprise Operating

Income will be the financial measure for 2019.
 
 2. The Annual Bonus is funded by Provider Solutions and/or Enterprise Incremental Operating Income – The Annual Bonus will be earned from an

amount of Provider Solutions and/or Enterprise Incremental Operating Income.
 
 
The Plan
 
Eligibility
 
Two groups are eligible for participation in the Plan:
 
 • President – The maximum Annual Bonus the President shall be eligible to receive under the Plan shall be an amount equal to 40 percent of the

President’s base salary, with that 40% being comprised as follows:  32% from Provider Solutions Incremental Operating Income and 8% from
Enterprise Incremental Income..  Therefore, 80% of the President’s Annual Bonus is based on achieving and exceeding Provider Solutions Target
Operating Income and the other 20% is based on achieving and exceeding Enterprise Target Operating Income.
 

 • Employment Requirements – Participants in the Plan who were employed with  
the Company through December 31, 2019 shall be eligible to receive bonus payments, if any, under the Plan regardless of whether such employees
are employed on the date such payments are actually made.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of death or disability, the participant’s pro
rata share from January 1, 2019 through the date of participant’s death or disability shall be awarded.

 
 
Payout
 
Payouts under the Plan shall be determined as follows:
 
 1. Provider Solutions Incremental Operating Income will be determined by subtracting the Provider Solutions Target Operating Income from Actual

Operating Income before bonuses.  The Provider Solutions Incremental Operating Income will then be multiplied by 32% for the President.
 

 2. Enterprise Incremental Operating Income will be determined by subtracting the Enterprise Target Operating Income from Enterprise Actual Operating
Income before bonuses.  The Enterprise Incremental Operating Income will then be multiplied by 8% for the President.
 

 3. Any such Annual Bonus made to the President pursuant to the Plan shall be payable at such time as bonuses are paid generally to executive officers of the
Company.

 



EXHIBIT 10.20
CONTRIBUTION AGREEMENT

 
This Contribution Agreement (the “Agreement”), made and entered into as of June 26, 2019 (the “Effective Date”), is by and

between HealthStream, Inc., a Tennessee corporation (“HealthStream”), and Robert A. Frist, Jr., an individual resident of the State of
Tennessee (“Frist”).
 

WHEREAS, Frist desires to contribute to HealthStream, and HealthStream desires to accept from Frist (the “Contribution”),
86,372 shares of common stock, no par value (“Common Stock”), of HealthStream (collectively, the “Contributed Shares”);
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the HealthStream, Inc. 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan
(the “Plan”), HealthStream desires to grant 78,520 shares of Common Stock (the “Grant Shares”) to the individuals and in the amounts set
forth on the attached spreadsheet as Exhibit A (such individuals, the “Recipients”); and
 

WHEREAS, HealthStream and Frist desire to memorialize in writing the terms, provisions and conditions of the Contribution and
the share grant.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, and the representations, warranties, covenants and conditions set
forth below, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, hereby agree as follows:

Section 1. Contribution; Share Grant.
 

(a) Contribution.  Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and without any compensation paid
by HealthStream to Frist, at the Closing (as defined below), Frist hereby contributes the Contributed Shares to HealthStream, and
HealthStream hereby accepts such contribution.  Frist shall execute stock powers or other evidence of transfer evidencing such
contribution and transfer as may reasonably be requested by HealthStream, and shall deliver to HealthStream stock certificates (as
applicable) representing all of the Contributed Shares.
 

(b) Closing.  The closing of the Contribution (the “Closing”) will take place concurrently with the execution
and delivery hereof at the offices of HealthStream at 500 11th Avenue North, Suite 1000, Nashville, Tennessee 37203 effective as of 3:01
p.m. (local time) on the Effective Date.

 
(c)  Share Grant.  HealthStream hereby agrees to grant the Grant Shares to the Recipients pursuant to the

Plan in the amounts set forth on Exhibit A hereto as Other Stock-Based Awards (as defined in the Plan), which grants have been
approved by the Compensation Committee of HealthStream.  It is anticipated that the Grant Shares will be issued to the Recipients on or
about July 25, 2019, and such Grant Shares will not be subject to any vesting conditions.
 

Section 2. Representations and Warranties of Frist.  Frist represents and warrants as of the Closing to HealthStream as
follows:
 

(a) Authority.  This Agreement constitutes the valid and binding obligation of Frist, enforceable against Frist
in accordance with its terms.  Frist has all requisite power, authority and capacity to execute and deliver this Agreement and to
consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.  

 



 
 

(b) No Conflict.  Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Frist nor the consummation of the
transactions contemplated hereby will, directly or indirectly (with or without notice or lapse of time): (i) conflict with any legal
requirement or order of any court or governmental authority to which Frist is subject, or (ii) breach any provision of any material contract
to which Frist is a party.
 

(c) No Consent.  Frist is not required to give any notice to or obtain any consent or approval from any person
in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Frist or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.
 

(d) Legal Proceedings; Orders.  There are no legal proceedings or actions pending or, to the knowledge of
Frist, threatened, against Frist that challenge, or that may have the effect of preventing, delaying, making illegal or otherwise interfering
with, any of the transactions contemplated hereby.
 

(e) Ownership of Contributed Shares.  Frist has good and valid title to the Contributed Shares, free and clear
of all liens and encumbrances.
 

Section 3. Representations and Warranties of HealthStream.  HealthStream represents and warrants as of the Closing to
Frist as follows:
 

(a) Authority.  This Agreement constitutes the valid and binding obligation of HealthStream, enforceable
against HealthStream in accordance with its terms.  HealthStream has all requisite corporate power and authority to execute and deliver
this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.  The execution and delivery of this Agreement by
HealthStream and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly and validly authorized and approved by
HealthStream.
 

(b) No Conflict.  Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement by HealthStream nor the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will, directly or indirectly (with or without notice or lapse of time): (i) conflict
with any legal requirement or order of any court or governmental authority to which HealthStream is subject, or (ii) breach any provision
of any material contract to which HealthStream is a party.
 

(c) No Consent.  HealthStream is not required to give any notice to or obtain any consent or approval from
any person in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated
hereby.
 

(d) Legal Proceedings; Orders.  There are no legal proceedings or actions pending or, to the knowledge of
HealthStream, threatened, against HealthStream that challenge, or that may have the effect of preventing, delaying, making illegal or
otherwise interfering with, any of the transactions contemplated hereby.    
 

Section 4. Miscellaneous.
 

(a) Waiver.  No failure to exercise, and no delay in exercising, on the part of either party, any privilege, any
power or any right hereunder will operate as a waiver thereof, nor will any single or partial exercise of any privilege, right or power
hereunder preclude further exercise of
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any other privilege, right or power hereunder.
 

(b) Entire Agreement and Modification.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the
parties with respect to the subject matter of this agreement and supersedes all prior agreements between the parties with respect to its
subject matter.  This Agreement may not be amended except by a written agreement signed by the party to be charged with the
amendment.
 

(c) Assignment; Binding Effect.  This Agreement may not be assigned by either party without the prior
written consent of the other party.  Subject to the foregoing, this Agreement will be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the
parties hereto and their permitted successors and assigns.
 

(d) Severability.  If any provision of this Agreement is held invalid or unenforceable by any court of
competent jurisdiction, the other provisions of this Agreement will remain in full force and effect.  Any invalid or unenforceable
provision shall be replaced by HealthStream and Frist with a valid provision which most closely approximates the intent and economic
effect of the invalid or unenforceable provision.
 

(e) Governing Law.  This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the
State of Tennessee, without regard to the conflict of law provisions thereof.  
 

(f) Construction.  The language used in the Agreement will be construed, in all cases, according to its fair
meaning, and not for or against any party hereto.  The parties acknowledge that each party has reviewed this Agreement and that rules of
construction to the effect that any ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party will not be available in the interpretation of
this Agreement.
 

(g) Execution of Agreement; Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts,
each of which will be deemed to be an original copy of this Agreement and all of which, when taken together, will be deemed to
constitute one and the same agreement.  
 

[remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Frist and HealthStream have executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date.

 
   Robert A. Frist, Jr.
     
     
   Sign Name:  
     
     
     
ACCEPTED AND AGREED:    
     
HealthStream, Inc.    
     
By:     
Name: Michael M. Collier    
Its: General Counsel & Senior Vice President   
 
 

[Signature Page to Contribution Agreement]
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Exhibit 31.1

 

I, Robert A. Frist, Jr., certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of HealthStream, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting.

 
Date: July 26, 2019  /s/ ROBERT A. FRIST, JR.
  Robert A. Frist, Jr.
  Chief Executive Officer
 

 



 
Exhibit 31.2

 

I, Scott A. Roberts, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of HealthStream, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting.

 
Date: July 26, 2019  /s/ SCOTT A. ROBERTS

  Scott A. Roberts
  Interim Chief Financial Officer
 

 



 
Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of HealthStream, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ending June 30, 2019, as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Robert A. Frist, Jr., Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

 (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

 (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

 
/s/ ROBERT A. FRIST, JR.
Robert A. Frist, Jr.
Chief Executive Officer
July 26, 2019
 

 



 
Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of HealthStream, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ending June 30, 2019, as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Scott A. Roberts, Interim Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

 (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

 (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

 
/s/ SCOTT A. ROBERTS

Scott A. Roberts
Interim Chief Financial Officer
July 26, 2019
 

 


